STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

DEC 05 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICHARD EARL TEDFORD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002213

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to consider two twenty-three-year-old burglary convictions that happened on the same day and were pled at the same time as only one conviction for purposes of enhancing appellant's charges to first-degree burglary and second-degree burglary?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 21, 2014, a Greenville County grand jury indicted appellant for two counts of first-degree burglary and two counts of grand larceny. R. 611-618. On October 13, 2015, appellant was tried before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely and a jury. R. 1. Mark Moyer represented the State. R. 1. Richard Warder represented appellant. R. 1.

The trial court granted appellant a directed verdict on one of the counts of first-degree burglary because the State failed to prove the crime scene was a dwelling, reducing it to second-degree burglary. R. 439, l. 25 – 442, l. 3. The trial court also granted appellant a directed verdict on one of the counts of grand larceny because the State agreed it failed to prove the required value of the items stolen, reducing it to petit larceny. R. 435, l. 25 – 438, l. 15.

The jury convicted appellant of first-degree burglary, second-degree burglary, grand larceny, and petit larceny. R. 595, l. 20 – 596, l. 15. Judge Gravely sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of twenty-three years' imprisonment for first-degree burglary, twelve years' imprisonment for second-degree burglary, ten years' imprisonment for grand larceny, and thirty days' imprisonment for petit larceny. R. 609, l. 17 – 610, l. 3. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to consider two twenty-three-year-old burglary convictions that happened on the same day and were pled at the same time as only one conviction for purposes of enhancing appellant's offenses to first-degree burglary and second-degree burglary.

Relevant Facts

The State charged appellant Richard Tedford with two burglaries that occurred on the same day in a rural area of Greenville County. Appellant was convicted of first-degree burglary arising from an incident that happened at the home of Melody Wilbanks ("Wilbanks"). R. 108, ll. 17 – 21. Wilbanks testified that her husband left for work "between quarter of 6:00 and 6:00." R. 109, ll. 11 – 13. She stayed in bed. R. 109, ll. 17 – 18. The sound of breaking glass awakened Wilbanks. R. 109, ll. 19 – 20.

Wilbanks went to her living room and saw a man "coming in through the window." R. 110, l. 13 – 111, l. 6. She ran into her bedroom, locked the bedroom door, and retrieved her husband's pistol from under their mattress. R. 112, ll. 9 – 19. She also got her phone. R. 112, ll. 14 – 19. Wilbanks went into the bathroom and locked the door. R. 112, ll. 20 – 23.

Wilbanks heard someone kick in her bedroom door. R. 114, ll. 16 – 20. She heard someone rummaging through her furniture in the bedroom. R. 114, ll. 16 – 115, l. 1. When she heard the door knob of the bathroom turn, Wilbanks fired the gun. R. 115, ll. 2 – 5. She shot the gun into the shower stall and not into the door. R. 116, ll. 8 – 20. Wilbanks heard the man say "whoa" or "stop," then grab her car keys. R. 116, l. 21 – 117, l. 7.

Wilbanks called 911. R. 117, ll. 20 – 24. After the police arrived, Wilbanks discovered her car was missing. R. 118, l. 10 – 119, l. 22. The car was a 2011 black Toyota Scion. R. 120, ll. 4 – 6. The car was found later that day behind a medical office in Greer. R. 291, l. 5 – 297, l. 7.

Wilbanks could not identify the person she saw in her living room. R. 138, l. 20 – 139, l. 4. During her direct-examination, Wilbanks claimed the man was white. R. 111, l. 23 – 112, l. 2. During cross-examination, Wilbanks denied telling a police officer that the man had what “sounded like a black voice.” R. 142, ll. 9 – 22. However, a police officer contradicted Wilbanks and testified that she told him that “from the sound of his voice, he sounded like he was black.” R. 311, ll. 7 – 17. At sentencing, Wilbanks told the court that her “daily routine begins every day with checking the Greenville County Inmate Search page to make sure he’s still there. I look at his face every morning. I’ve looked at [it] for seven hundred and ninety four days, since it happened.” R. 605, ll. 8 – 13.

No physical evidence collected at Wilbanks’ house tied appellant to the burglary. R. 313, l. 24 – 323, l. 20. Appellant testified and denied any involvement in the Wilbanks burglary. R. 461, ll. 7 – 13. The night before the burglary, appellant and his fiancé got into an argument in her car. R. 449, l. 15 – 450, l. 19. Appellant got out of the car and began walking. R. 450, ll. 13 – 19. Appellant “walked for hours” and made phone calls trying to convince someone to give him a ride home. R. 451, ll. 1 – 16. He was covered in red mud. R. 452, ll. 21 – 25.

Eventually, appellant learned that a friend of his fiancé’s named Derek was coming to get him. R. 451, l. 17 – 452, l. 25. By this time, appellant was in a subdivision

where new houses were being built. R. 453, ll. 1 – 9. Appellant admitted that he paid a construction worker twenty dollars to let him in a house that he thought was for sale so that he could take a bath. R. 452, l. 4 – 454, l. 13. Appellant “didn’t know [the house] belonged to anybody.”¹ R. 455, ll. 8 – 14.

Derek arrived in a black Scion. R. 454, ll. 20 – 25. Appellant had never seen Derek drive a black Scion. R. 456, ll. 19 – 22. Derek went into the house to use drugs and while appellant waited, he fell asleep. R. 457, l. 18 – 458, l. 7. When appellant awakened, Derek was “fumbling in the back” of the car and a man appellant did not know approached and told him to leave. R. 458, ll. 9 – 24. Derek ran. R. 458, ll. 15 – 20. Appellant had to look for the keys in the back of the Scion. R. 458, l. 20 – 459, l. 4. He located the keys in the back of the car and drove off, finding Derek at the end of the street. R. 458, l. 21 – 459, l. 4. Derek drove and appellant again fell asleep. R. 459, ll. 1 – 4.

The man who approached appellant was Gerald Lockhart (“Lockhart”). R. 153, l. 4 – 164, l. 16. Lockhart testified that he noticed the Scion in his driveway at approximately 6:30 AM. R. 150, ll. 12 – 22. All four doors and the trunk were open. R. 150, ll. 21 – 22. Lockhart initially saw no one at the car, but when he approached, he saw one person “leaning over the trunk.” R. 150, l. 23 – 151, l. 4. R. 153, ll. 11 – 19. Like appellant, Lockhart testified that when appellant tried to leave, appellant had to retrieve the keys from the trunk. R. 155, l. 10 – 156, l. 25.

¹ Appellant was convicted of second-degree burglary for this incident. R. 595, l. 20 – 596, l. 15. The trial judge directed a verdict on first-degree burglary because the house was not occupied and therefore not a dwelling. R. 439, l. 25 – 442, l. 3. The house had been recently purchased by Brian and Arlene Walker, but they had yet to move into the house. R. 229, l. 11 – 230, l. 5.

When appellant next awakened, he was at a house he did not recognize and the car's hatch was open. R. 459, ll. 5 – 22. Assuming he was at the house of one of Derek's friends, appellant rang the doorbell and asked the woman who answered if Derek was there. R. 459, ll. 5 – 22. She said "no" and appellant walked back to the car. R. 459, ll. 5 – 22. Derek was in the driveway. R. 459, ll. 5 – 22. Derek drove appellant to a convenience store and they "parted ways" at approximately 10:00 AM. R. 459, l. 20 – 460, l. 8. When appellant left Derek, the Scion was undamaged and had none of the items found in the car when it was discovered later in the day. R. 460, ll. 3 – 8.

The woman who answered the door was Natalie Powell ("Powell"). R. 187, l. 15 – 190, l. 5. Powell testified that appellant rang her doorbell at approximately 8:00 AM. R. 187, ll. 15 – 19. Powell saw the Scion parked in front of her house. R. 191, ll. 4 – 8. She also testified that appellant asked if Derek was at her house. R. 190, ll. 2 – 5. While Powell testified that she did not see anybody else with appellant, she went back into her house did not watch appellant leave. R. 195, ll. 20 – 22. R. 191, ll. 14 – 24.

When the police found Wilbanks' black Scion, they took a number of items into inventory and forensics processed some of the items. R. 225, ll. 1 – 14. Some of the items were from the house belonging to the Walkers where appellant took a bath. R. 253, l. 12 – 256, l. 12. Some of the items in the Scion did not belong to the Walkers and the police were never able to find anyone who claimed the items. R. 256, l. 19 – 257, l. 7. R. 384, l. 2 – 385, l. 19. The police obtained ten fingerprints from the Scion, but only one matched appellant. R. 357, ll. 6 – 15. The prints on the items from the Walkers' house did not belong to appellant. R. 361, l. 12 – 362, l. 11.

As an aggravating factor for the two burglaries, the State introduced appellant's two 1992 prior convictions for burglary. R. 423, ll. 12 – 21. R. 620 – 625. Both burglaries occurred on the same day. R. 620 – 625. Appellant pled guilty to both burglaries on June 3, 1992, before the Honorable Frank Eppes. R. 620 – 625.

Prior to trial, appellant moved to have these 1992 convictions considered as one conviction for purposes of the burglary statute. R. 7, l. 12 – 8, l. 11. Appellant argued that the crimes occurred on the same day and the houses were next to each other—facts that were not disputed by the State. R. 7, l. 12 – 9, l. 22. The trial judge denied appellant's motion. R. 9, l. 23 – 10, l. 21. The court charged the jury that appellant's two prior convictions could be considered as an aggravating factor for both first-degree burglary and second-degree burglary. R. 570, ll. 10 – 24. R. 572, ll. 19 – 24.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in refusing to consider the two twenty-three year old burglaries as one conviction under the burglary statutes. Offenses which are “committed at times so closely connected in point of time” may be considered as one offense “notwithstanding under the law they constitute separate and distinct offenses.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50. Under section 17-25-50, the 1992 burglaries, which occurred on the same day at houses next to each other “share an immediate temporal proximity” and are one offense. Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 534-35, 683 S.E.2d 280, 285 (2009) (interpreting section 17-25-50 in an LWOP case). See also State v. Pee Dee News Co., 286 S.C. 562, 568, 336 S.E.2d 8, 11 (1985) (construing 49 indictments for distribution of obscene material as one conviction for sentencing).

Both first- and second-degree burglary contain enhancements if a defendant has two or more prior burglary convictions. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A)(2). S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312(B)(2). These provisions are designed to punish recidivism. State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 396, 526 S.E.2d 709, 710-11 (2000). In Washington, the Court stated that “section 16-11-311 allows the State to punish Defendant’s recidivism by using his previous convictions to elevate actions that would normally constitute a burglary, second degree charge to a charge of burglary, first degree.” Id.