STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2016

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-002213

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

RICHARD EARL TEDFORD,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly interpreted the phrase “two or more convictions” under Sections 16-11-311(A)(2) and 16-11-311(B)(2) of the Code by using its plain and unambiguous meaning rather than granting Appellant’s request to graft language from the recidivist offender statute, S.C. Code Section 17-25-50, onto its interpretation.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying his motion to consider his two prior burglary convictions as a single conviction for purposes of enhancing his current burglary offenses to first-degree burglary and second-degree burglary, because the prior burglary convictions “happened on the same day and were pled at the same time.” Relying on Section 17-25-50 of the South Carolina Code and its language that, for purposes of our recidivist offender statute, two offenses which are “committed at times so closely connected in point of time” may be considered one offense “notwithstanding under the law they constitute separate and distinct offenses,” Appellant contends that because his two 1992 burglaries occurred on the same day in houses next to each other, they “share an immediate temporal proximity” and therefore similarly should constitute only one offense for purposes of the relevant burglary statutes. (Brief of Appellant, p.9). The State disagrees and submits Appellant’s argument is both unpreserved for review and without merit.

The basic issue before this Court is the meaning of “two or more convictions” under our first-degree burglary and second-degree burglary statutes, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-311(A)(2) & 16-11-311(B)(2). The State respectfully submits the trial court properly interpreted “two or more convictions” using the plain and unambiguous meaning of the phrase and properly declined to seek out and graft language from the recidivist offender statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50)

onto that plain and unambiguous meaning, and therefore Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Initially, the State submits that to the extent Appellant's argument depends on the contention that the trial Court's decision should have been controlled by Section 17-25-50 of the Code, that argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was never raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Indeed, the appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Thus, Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review. In any event, the State submits the argument is entirely without merit.

The basic rule of statutory construction is that a court must ascertain and give effect to the legislature's intention as expressed in the statute. State v. Zulfer, 345 S.C. 258, 262, 547 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing State v. Ramsy, 311 S.C. 555, 430 S.E.2d 511 (1993)). In construing a statute, a court cannot read into the statute something not within the manifest intention of the legislature as gathered from the statute itself. Id. If a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion of employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning. Id.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A)(2), "A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling, and . . . the burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of **two or more convictions** for burglary or housebreaking or a combination of both." (emphasis added).

Similarly, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(B)(2), “A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a building without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein, and . . . the burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of **two or more convictions** for burglary or housebreaking or a combination of both. (emphasis added). Under these statutes, “two or more convictions” is plain and unambiguous, requiring two or more judicial findings of guilt for prior burglaries or housebreakings, or a combination thereof. This Court has explained that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A)(2) “allows the State to punish Defendant's recidivism by using his previous convictions to elevate actions that would normally constitute a charge to a charge of burglary, first degree.” State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 396, 526 S.E.2d 709, 711 (2000). The State is required to prove all elements of first-degree burglary beyond a reasonable doubt, and therefore, the jury must be informed of a defendant's prior convictions for burglary or housebreaking because it is an element of the offense. State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 573 S.E.2d 856 (Ct. App. 2002). In Simmons, this Court held:

To ensure that the defendant is not convicted on an improper basis while allowing the State to prove the elements of first degree burglary, the trial court should limit the evidence to the prior burglary and/or housebreaking convictions. Detailed, particular information about the prior burglaries and/or housebreaking convictions should not be admitted. In addition, the trial court should, on request, instruct the jury that the information should only be considered for the limited purpose of proving one of the elements of first degree burglary.

Id. at 357, 864 (internal citations omitted). The requirement for two or more prior convictions for burglary or housebreaking is an element of the offense pursuant to Section 16-11-311(A)(2). See State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000) (holding prior burglary convictions are elements of charged burglary in the first-degree offense, not merely a sentencing consideration for the court to consider); State v. Hamilton, 327 S.C. 440, 486 S.E.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1998)

(same). There is no such requirement that the two prior offenses **not** be closely connected in time.

In the present case, Appellant asked the trial court and now asks this Court to disregard the plain and ordinary meaning of “two or more convictions” and to improperly superimpose the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50 onto our burglary statutes, so that the two or more convictions must be treated as a single conviction if the underlying offenses were closely connected in time. This improper application of Section 17-25-50 to the plain and ordinary reading of our first-degree and second-degree burglary statutes would constitute an abuse of discretion and was properly rejected by the trial court.

In enacting S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50, the South Carolina General Assembly instructed:

In determining the number of offenses for the purpose of imposition of sentence, the court shall treat as one offense any number of offenses which have been committed at times so closely connected in point of time that they may be considered as one offense, notwithstanding under the law they constitute separate and distinct offenses.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50 (emphasis added). Under the plain language of the statute, this section’s applicability is limited solely to situations where it is necessary for the sentencing judge to determine the number of **offenses for sentencing purposes**, a function which is required under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45, our recidivist offender statute. Indeed, the State submits to intended interplay between sections 17-25-45 and 17-25-50 is further evidenced by the fact that they are codified in succession, as part of Article 1 of Chapter 25 in Title 17. Accordingly, contrary to the position advanced by Appellant, Section 17-25-50 applies only in limited situations where it is necessary for a sentencing judge to make such a determination, and it in no way inhibits a sentencing judge’s broad discretion in imposing sentences for individual offenses and in determining whether separate sentences should be served concurrently or consecutively.

See State v. Legare, 333 S.C. 275, 282-283, 509 S.E.2d 472, 476 (1998) (recognizing S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50 “is a recidivist statute” and finding a sentencing judge can properly impose concurrent or consecutive sentences for each count for which a defendant is convicted).

A review of Section 17-25-50 clearly shows application of it to Appellant’s case would constitute an error of law. Section 17-25-50 explicitly states that it is exclusively applicable for the purpose of imposition of a sentence. Under the plain language of this statute, this section’s applicability is limited solely to situations where it is necessary for the sentencing judge to determine the number of offenses for sentencing purposes as required under Section 17-25-45, our recidivist offender statute. Therefore, it logically follows that Section 17-25-50 is only applicable in the limited situations where it is necessary for a sentencing judge to make such a determination, not for the jury’s use when determining whether the requisite number of **convictions** has been proven **to establish an element** of first-degree burglary pursuant to Section 16-11-311(A)(2) or second degree burglary pursuant to Section 16-11-311(B)(2).

Despite this clear purpose stated in the statutory language, Appellant asked the trial court to improperly apply Section 17-25-50 to the elements of the first-degree and second-degree burglary statutes. It is clear that “two or more convictions” is an element of the charged offense under Section 16-11-311(A)(2) through opinions such as Hamilton and Benton from both this Court and our Supreme Court. Accordingly, it is solely the jury’s duty to determine if the number of prior convictions meets the two or more threshold as set forth in Sections 16-11-311(A)(2) & 16-11-311(B)(2). The jury is not responsible for sentencing a defendant and therefore, applying Section 17-25-50—a statute explicitly intended for use exclusively during sentencing under the recidivist offender statute—to an element of the offense for jury consideration, would be an error of law requiring reversal.

Additionally, Sections 16-11-311(A)(2) and 16-11-311(B)(2) do not place any limitations on the prior convictions which may be used to meet the requisite two convictions element. In State v. Zulfer, this Court rejected the appellant's argument that the legislature intended to limit the prior burglary convictions to only those occurring in South Carolina. 345 S.C. 258, 262, 547 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2001). The Court held that "[t]o restrict the predicate offenses for a first-degree burglary charge . . . would give the statute a meaning that the legislature clearly did not intend." Id. at 262, 547 S.E.2d at 887. See also State v. Donahue, 400 S.C. 604, 607, 735 S.E.2d 547, 549 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding "nothing in the language of subsection 16-11-313(B) limits a circuit court to considering only South Carolina offenses"). This Court further held that "[t]o shift the focus to the fact that a defendant's prior offenses may have occurred in different jurisdictions would thwart the objective of requiring heightened accountability from repeat offenders for their subsequent crimes." Id. at 263-64, 547 S.E.2d at 887-88. It is clear that the legislative intent of Sections 16-11-311(A)(2) and 16-11-311(B)(2) is heightened accountability from repeat offenders, and therefore, the only logical conclusion is that Section 17-25-50 is not applicable.

Similarly, adopting Appellant's posited interpretation of "two or more convictions" would reach an absurd result not intended by the legislature that would greatly expand the efficacy of Section 17-25-50 beyond its intended applicability.¹ By precluding the possibility of an enhanced punishment for committing a subsequent burglary following a string of prior burglaries, Appellant's proposed statutory construction would effectively incentivize the commission of multiple burglaries in close succession because the offender could avoid the

¹ Tellingly, Section 17-25-50 was not applied in the manner Appellant asked the trial court to apply in one of the primary cases he now relies upon on appeal, because that case involved the imposition of a sentence under the recidivist offender statute. See Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 533, 683 S.E.2d 280, 284 (2009) (finding multiple armed robberies committed over the course of three days did not constitute a single offense under Section 17-25-50 for purposes of sentencing under the recidivist offender statute).

enhanced punishment for all but a single burglary in his chain of crimes. This proposed result is entirely inconsistent with the purpose for which Section 17-25-50 was enacted, was clearly not intended by our General Assembly, and would serve no legitimate goal or purpose related to sentencing. See Wade v. State, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2002) (“[A] court must reject a statute’s interpretation leading to absurd results not intended by the Legislature.”).

On appeal, Appellant references State v. Boyd, 288 S.C. 206, 341 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1986), for the proposition that “Section 17-25-50 has been construed to apply in other criminal statutes that enhance punishment for recidivism.” He claims that: “the Court interpreted section 17-25-50 as applying to the defendant’s charge of possession with intent to distribute marijuana.” (Brief of Appellant, p.10). However, a review of Boyd demonstrates Appellant’s claim is not accurate. In Boyd, this Court was considering whether “the trial judge should have treated as one Boyd’s two prior convictions because they arose **out of a single incident** in which he was found in possession of two controlled substances and sentenced separately for each.” Id. at 208, 341 S.E.2d at 146. The Court did not “apply” section 17-25-50 to another criminal statute and instead made a point of noting: “We do not think the rule that statutes relating to the same subject are to be construed together and harmonized applies to the situation before us.” Id. at 209, 341 S.E.2d at 146. Rather, the Court held: “that **the same logic and fairness** of these two statutes [Section 17-25-50 & Section 56-1-1020] require the adoption of Boyd’s thesis that a conviction of two or more counts under the Controlled Substance Act **which arose out of acts committed in the course of a single incident** should count as one for the purpose of sentencing for conviction of a subsequent and separate violation of the Controlled Substance Act.” Id. (emphasis added). Thus, rather than applying section 17-25-50, this Court made an equitable decision to follow the logic and fairness of the provision while adopt a new interpretation of a

sentencing provision in the Controlled Substance Act. A consideration of logic and fairness in regard to our burglary statutes supports the opposite result. Indeed, where two separate burglaries necessarily involve two different dwellings or buildings, they cannot have arisen out of acts committed **in the course of a single incident**, regardless of whether they were committed in close temporal proximity or weeks apart. Furthermore, there are necessarily multiple victims in multiple burglaries, a circumstance that distinguishes Appellant's case from the drug offenses analyzed in Boyd. Finally, the enhancement provision in Boyd implicated a sentencing decision by the trial court rather than an element of the offense, as is the case with the burglary statutes at issue.

Interestingly, Appellant also references State v. Pee Dee News Co., Inc., 286 S.C. 562, 336 S.E.2d 8 (1985), as an example of our Supreme Court construing 49 indictments for distribution of obscene material as one conviction for sentencing, because there was no evidence the distributions occurred at different times. However, a close reading of this case suggests the Court actually construed the 49 indictments as seven convictions because there were seven different stores. The Court found: "It is clear from the evidence that magazines were distributed by Appellant to seven stores. In the absence of proof by the state that there were several distributions to each store, the record can support but one count of distribution to each." Id. at 568, 336 S.E.2d at 11. (emphasis added). Thus, this opinion appears to support treating Appellant's prior burglaries as two convictions regardless of timing, because the record can support one count of burglary as to each residence.

Based on all the reasons set forth above, the State submits Appellant's proposed statutory interpretation of Sections 16-11-311(A)(2) and 16-11-311(B)(2), which would have integrated unrelated language from Section 17-25-50, was properly rejected by the trial court. Furthermore,

even if the trial court erred by not adopting the interpretation proposed by Appellant, he suffered no prejudice where there was absolutely no factual dispute as to whether the burglary of the Wilbanks' residence occurred in the nighttime. Appellant argues "[i]t was an issue of fact whether the burglary at the Wilbanks' residence occurred in the nighttime" and discussed how the jury was faced with "the difficult decision on the 'nighttime' element." (Brief of Appellant, p.10). Yet, Wilbanks testified it was dark when the burglar was climbing into her broken window and there was absolutely no testimony or evidence to the contrary. (R.p.105-p.111). Indeed, Appellant's defense was simply that he was not the person who committed that burglary and that he had never been to the Wilbanks' house. Appellant's current convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.